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Ballincollig’s native son,
the sculptor, Joseph Higgins

¢

Joseph Higgins (1885-1925) was born just outside Ballincollig in 1885. His father,
William, who lost his job as a teacher after being imprisoned following the 1867
Rising, worked as a cooper in the Royal Gunpowder Mills. Young Joseph attended
Ballincollig National School until the age of fourteen when he and his family
moved to Cork city.

E¥ While working as a clerk at Newsom &
Sons Tea Merchants, 41 Patrick Street, Higgins
attended night classes at the Crawford School
of Art, specializing in sculpture modelling
and wood carving, winning several national

awards between 1910 and 1914.

o . Bl Modelled onhisnephew, Charlie, weathered
Joseph Higgins working on :

Boy with a Boat, 1910 green from the outdoor elements, this work
i b has been loved for generations by visitors
to Fitzgerald’s Park. The writer, Mary Leland,
wrote, 'This little totem was the prayer-tree of
every outing to “the park”; we introduced our
children to 1t . . . the piece which spoke child

to child and which was never forgotten’.

Following his studies, he worked as an art
teacher, travelling the county by bicycle and
Doy with s BEAL1910. rail before settling In Youghal, whgn he gqt a
bronze by Joseph Higgins permanent post there in 1915. While teaching
(Courtesy of the Murphy family, ; : : .
Photograph Dara McGrath) fU”'tlme tO SUppOl’t hlS gI’OWIng famlly, he

continued to create artworks of great quality.

EJ A forceful portrait of Michael Collins, in the
prime of life, carved from limewood gathered
from a neighbour’s fallen tree, from sketches
that he made of Collins addressing the Great
o e Cork Treaty Meeting in Grand Parade in March

limewood by Joseph Higgins 1922. A few months later, Collins was dead,

(Courtesy of the Murphy family, Photograph - Ve ,
Dara McGrath) killed at Béal na Blath.

B In contrast to the Collins bust, this is a very
tender depiction of his aunt, Hannah Mclntyre.
With his death from tuberculosis at the early
age of forty, a great career was cut short and
Ireland lost a gifted sculptor, painter and
Cork’s Arts & Crafts Movement most skilled
craftsman and designer. 19 of his sculptures
bronze by Joseph Higgins : . : .

(G outtas B ther it (i, PHOtALSRL survive, many of which, his son-in-law, the
walacviECyath) sculptor, Séamus Murphy, had cast in bronze.
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MILEPOSTS AND THE

OLD CORKTO
INNISHANNON ROAD

Located just before the Wilton roundabout Is a
milepost or ‘'milestone’. This seemingly mundane
monument is one of only a few surviving artefacts
indicative of Ireland’s early nineteenth-century
transport history. The cast-iron milepost itself was
likely castin 1829 by the Hive Iron Works, which were
located on Hanover Street, Cork. These triangular
objects were usually situated on important trade-
routes at 1-mile intervals and indicated the distance
tothenearesttown. TheoneatWiltonreads INNOSH
13" (Innishannon) at its north side, ‘CORK 2’ on its
south side and 'SKIBB CORK' on top, indicating the
two towns the road connected.

The establishment ofanindependentlrish post office
in 1783'also saw the creation of mail coach services
and mail-coach roads to serve key Irish towns. These
were turnpike roads, which collected tolls in order to
maintain their upkeep by incorporating toll houses
at Iimportant intervals and a gate or turnpike across
the road. This milestone was one of a series erected
by the Cork Irish Grand Jury" along the old Cork
to Skibbereen mail coach road. These once stood
iIn 1-mile intervals along the Cork to Innishannon
road, and were recorded in-situ by Ordinance Survey
Ireland on their historic 25-inch maps,
produced between 1837 and 1913".
Most often the position of the posts
were recorded as M.P. (£4+),although
sometimes the shorthand “M.P Cork
3", Indicating only one direction, was
also used. Unfortunately, of the 13
mileposts recorded on the OSI maps
of the old Cork to Innishannon road
only three remain today.

Mail-coach services of the Iate-
eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries were operated primarily
by either jaunting-cars or post-
chaise, which were later replaced with
stagecoaches. Both stagecoach and
post-chaise are named as such as the
horses drawing them needed to be
changed at stations or ‘posts’ alone the
road—leadingtothenecessary creation
of Inns and services alone main trade
roads. Themilepostswould have served
as important and welcome indicators
for weary coach drivers on how their
~ journey was progressing. While easily
- overlooked, these small monuments
played a key role in the visual make-
up of Ireland’s early transport history
and highlight the importance of one
of the trade roads which made Cork
such an important and prosperous city
during the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries, laying the groundwork for
the modern city that we recognise
today.
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BLACKPOOL’S

SILVER SCREEN
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LIDO CINEM A‘
(BLACKPOOL)

SUNDAY, MONDAY, TUESDAY.

ED. G. ROBINSON and MARY
ASTOR in

“LITTLE GIANT.]

A BAFFLING DRAMA OF THE
UNDERWORLD. |
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Three Youths Charged

Fight In Bork
Cinema Descmbed

THE taklng ef depesrhens cuntlnued at the

--Cork:, ‘District -~ Court to-day, - before'
D:strlct ]ushce D. P. Q? Denuvan iin the case
m whlch three yeufhs are: ,..h-;:rged .on.four
cbunts ansmg out 6f an incident at Blackpool

on the: mghf of April 9 last.

P T T TR T T T e e —————— ——

'CINEMA BLAZE
Soon after -the last pafrons had

left the Princess Cinema, Black:- .
pool, on Saturday night, the
halcony was found- io be ablaze

Blackpnn} fire brigade confined
‘the fire—~the+ second._ .within 3
‘'week at the cinema—to the upper

|ilem -
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Long before the Reel Picture opened in 2004,
Blackpool had its very own cinema on the
Watercourse Road.

The highs and lows it experienced read like the plot of
a film in its own right. So, get your popcorn, sit back
and let's take a look at some of the drama.

The Grand Opening fell October 24th 1920 and the
main feature was “Sporting Life", a six-reel special.
Also, showing was a Charlie Chaplin comedy, “The
Masked Rider” and “Irish Scenery” featuring faraway
(and possibly never to be visited) Wicklow and
Wexford. All greeted with loud and frequent applause
throughout the performance.

The new cinema was advertised as “comfortably
appointed with luxurious seats”, but after a few short
years, it was closed by the city for not adhering to the
most basic standards required.

Revamped and reopened as the ‘Lido), It resumed Its
place among Cork’s Picturedromes in 1931 and once
again proved a runaway hit. Such a hit that it staged
professional boxing in 1935.

Cinemas were seen as lucrative targets and the Lido
was hit several times by real life gangsters. In 1937,
the office door was busted in and a treasure throve
of stolen farthings were later recovered in a farmer’s
fleld in Rathpeacon.

Arriving home one night in 1941, long-suffering
manager Ed Coghlan, was pounced upon and robbed
of £10 takings. Slightly injured on the head, Ed still
gave chase to no avall.

Known as ‘the Shadow’, Ed was notorious himself
for appearing out of nowhere to nab customers
attempting to slip from the cheap seats into more
expensive ones.

Often witness to scenes of riotous enjoyment, matters
got of hand at the Lido in 1949 when a pair of brothers
were arrested for a disturbance. Says a Guard to the
Court, "hardly a night passes without the Station being
rung up about some trouble”.

Midnight at the Lost and Found: “1960, near the Lido
Cinema, lady’s false teeth”. “1963, a complete set of
Mini-Motor tools”.

The bottom of what was usually a jolly curve was hit
in May 1962 when a knife fight broke out resulting in
GBH charges. It was all Ed needed and he only weeks
from retirement. A boy from Spangle Hill and Mrs.
Coghlan provided some identitying Descriptors: ...
“a dirty white gaberdine coat” ... "hair dishevelled” ...
"heavy feed of drink” ... "wide army canvass belt with
a brass buckle” ...

Gary Cooper’s ‘Good Sam’ was the last Lido picture
show and in a plush revamp, the cinema was renamed
first the 'Palladium’ and then the 'Princess’. But the
curtain finally began its slow descent in June 1963
when‘disastrously’ the balcony was found ablaze after
a Saturday night screening.

More potent again was the arrival of the Television
Age, and the closing credits finished rolling in 1965
on a Blackpool institution that gave so much joy.
For many years after, 71 Watercourse Road housed
O'Meara Camping and more recently has operated
as an Art Collective.
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CROSSING POINTS

SOME BLARNEY
BRIDGES
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The Dry Bridge

The Gothic Bridge
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E¥ Way up near the Dairygold complex at
Grenagh is one of the most picturesque of
the bridges that cross Blarney's rivers. It has
an earlier feel about it than those of the
rallway era with its crooked arch, venerable
moss and less geometrically cut limestone.

EdPutland’s Bridge at Waterloo was built
between 1812 and 1815 and is the first
bridgenamedontheoriginal 1840 Ordnance
Survey maps. Its construction Is a testament
to the Putland family and their hard working
tenantry whose rents helped pay for it.

ElHow about this for a rustic scene?
Blarney Bridge, at the corner of the Square,
was first erected In 1790 “by public
subscription” and was of one arch. This
illustration dates from 1811.

Bl The Great Flood of 1948 destroyed it
(and much more besides) and a temporary
wickerwork structure was put in place until
the present bridge was built. [l This was
done In plain concrete blockwork the like
of which can also be seen at Healy's Bridge
and along the Station Road.

Kl Predating both though, was the 'Dry
Bridge’ which stood just beyond today's
Blarney Bridge. It was built way back in 1756
when the industrial village was evolving.
It was regarded as “"a handsome structure
with three arches”. But the river was never
diverted under it as Intended, famously
leaving Blarney with “a bridge without ariver,
and a river without a bridge”. It did prove to
have Its uses. A woman living at the Gate
Lodge kept her hens under it before it was
dismantled. The site was filled in and levelled

after the flood of 1948.

BA All of the above relate to the River Martin
but the Gothic Bridge, near the playground,
spanstheBlarneyRiver. This streamdescends
from the Whitechurch direction and was also
known as the Comane and the Whey. Here
s a stylised depiction of the Gothic Bridge
with its decorative brick work.
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DOUGLAS

AN INDUSTRIAL
VILLAGE

g = T o -
St. Patrick’s Mills Yesterday _
Douglas developed as a suburban area in the
18th and early 19th centuries and was noted
for a high concentration of ‘big houses'. The
oldest was built in 1627 by Morris Ronayne

and demolished in 1969. The original inscribed
fireplace was moved to Blackrock Castle.

The area began to develop as a wider urban
settlement with the opening of the "Douglas
factory”
reported to be the property of Messrs. Perry,
Carleton and Co. with 100 looms operational.
The mills produced sail-cloth and supplied
salls to the Royal Navy among other clients.

The Besnards,
acquiredthe Mills by

1783 and Iinstalled
Lr the first powered

Wooﬁén and Worsted

MANUFACTURERS.
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T |l workers from r
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and Scotland. In

MORROGH BROS. & CO.

LIMITED,

Douglas adills, Co. Cork.

MANUFACTURERS OF

Fancy Worsted Suitings. % daxonies.

addition to those
working in the mill
workers, over 1,000
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R ——————— from their houses,
| Fancy Worsted Suitings and  there were
from Morroghs hacklers, bleachers

andlabourerstasked
with preparing raw material in Douglas village.

Furthertextile millsopenedinthe 19th century,
including an additional Besnard-owned
scutching mill 1806, Lane's Corn and Hemp
Mills 1845 O’'Brien Brothers 1882 (St Patrick’s
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in 1726. In August 1755 this was *
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St. Patrick’'s Mills Today

Woollen Mills), Donnybrook Mills 1866 (later
known as Morroghs Woollen Mills) 1889 and
Conroy's Rope and Twine Mills 1892.

Most of the mills ceased operating in the
early 20th century, although St. Patrick’s and
Donnybrook continued until the 1970s. Some
of the houses built for the mill workers are still
In existence, including the terrace near the

junction of the Grange Road and Donnybrook
Hill.

Other large businesses of the past included an
Osiery (willow cultivation for basket making)
beside Conroy’s Mills (now Galway's Lane), two
large brick manufacturers which straddled the
nearby estuary, the Ravensdale Flour Mill, and
the Wooduville Flour Mill which produced sea
biscuits and ship bread.

In 1898, the Cork Electric Tramways and
Lighting Company built a route from Cork City
to Douglas. This operated until 1932 when it
was replaced by a bus service.

In the second half of the twentieth century, the
circle completed as Douglas became a dormer
suburb of the city. New housing was built and
the area between Douglas and the city became
bullt-up. Schools, shopping centres, cinemas
and other amenities developed to serve the
growing population.

CORK
| ocal Studies

LEANN AITIUIL CHQR;Al




GLANMIRE

SARAH CURRAN
= A SECOND CHANCE AT LOVE
IN GLANMIRE
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Though this drawing is dated 1840, it is likely
that the view had not changed much since
1805 when Sarah Curran married Captain

Robert Henry Sturgeon in the Church of St
Mary's and All Saints on 24th November 1805.

In 1785, the parishes of Rathcooney, Caherlag
and Little Island were united under the title of
the Union of Rathcooney and the new church
at Glanmire was consecrated in October
1786. It was only during the Bicentenary
Rededication Service on 24 October 1986,
that this church was finally given the name
of Church of St Mary's and All Saints. The
church has six stained glass windows, some
dedicated to the memory of former Glanmire
residents. |

Sarah Curran is remembered for her tragic o R by William Beechey, 1805
love affair with the United Irishman, Robert
Emmet, leader of the Irish Rebellion of 1803.
Following the failure of the rebellion, Emmet
was hanged, drawn and quartered. When love
letters from Sarah to Emmet were discovered
and their secret engagement exposed, her
father expelled her from the family home. She
fled to Cork where she took refuge with the
Penrose family at Woodhill in Montenotte. On
her wedding day in Glanmire, Cooper Penrose
gave her away. The marriage was short-lived
as Sarah died only three years later in 1808.
Poets and artists were inspired by Sarah’s story
iIncluding her friend, Thomas Moore, who
wrote ‘She s far from the land about her’.

(Creative Commons Images)

The artist, William Beechey, painted this
romanticized depiction of Sarah as Hibernia,
playing the harp, the national symbol of
Ireland.

f m|

‘She (s far from the land where her young
hero sleeps,
And lovers are round her, sighing,
But coldly she turns from their gaze, and i ' B B
weeps,
For her heart in his grave (s lying.

ji | L&

Robert Emmet in Court
(during his trial in 1803)
Engraving by William Read

(from Thomas Moore's Irish Melodies, vol. 4) (National Gallery of Ireland Creative
Commons Images)
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THE WATER TOWER
IN KNOCKNAHEENY

YOU’VE SURELY NOTICED IT ?
PLEASE DON’T SAYYOU HAVEN’T !

1968: Plans first revealed in the City Hall. ClIr.
Gerald Goldberg calls it “futuristic” and says it
‘will fit into the landscape”.

Estimated cost: £58,200 (€73,900). Estimated
capacity: 400,000 gallons (1,800 m3). It was
“all water” November. The Corporation also
discussed proposals for two new swimming
pools.

1971: The engineering consultants are
Malachy, Walsh & Partners and the design
IS inspired by a beautifully proportioned
tower in the market complex in Caen, France.

Contractors, Bowen and Mullally & Co., begin

work in June.

1972: Fifteen months later, a landmark visible
frommilesaroundisbornstanding 80 feethigh
(24Y2 metres). Final cost: £73,896 (€94,000).
The city’'s daily water usage is 9.3 million
gallons (42,200 m3) predicted to rise to 13
million (59,100 m3) by 1976.

1978: A landmark is right - Evening Echo, Jan
4: "For Sale: Fiat 600, driving well. — Kilmore
Road Lr., Knocknaheeny (near water tower)".

1993: Cork Examiner, Nov 1. "Gardal In
Gurranabraher investigating the theft of a car

5 3| LIBRARIES
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from near Union Quay found it burnt out near
the water tower in Knocknaheeny last night”.

2010: Cllr. Tony Fitzgerald leads a charge to
refurbish and floodlight an “iconic feature”
and enhance the image of the northside.
The “energy efficient” revamp costs the City
€43,000 and the green illumination can be
witnessed from dusk to 1 am.

2017: Not so on St. Patrick’s Day 2017 though.
Buildings across the globe were going green
—the London Eye, Empire State Building, Eiffel
Tower. But Irish Water were not planning to
update the lighting.

2019: The City Boundary shoots miles out to
encompass fine dairy farms from which the
tower Is visible. The sod is turned on a €40m
upgrade for the Lee Road Waterworks. The
water treated on the Lee Road is pumped to
reservoirs in Shankiel, Hollyhill, Churchfield
iIn addition to the Rezza. These serve the
northside and city centre. Southside districts
get theirs form Inniscarra.

The future looks wet!
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IVIAYFIELD

DANIEL CORKERY
AND HIS PUPILS FRANK O°CONNOR
AND SEAMIUS MMURPHY

Two of Cork's finest talents of the 20th
century, the writer Frank O’Connor and
sculptor Séamus Murphy attendedthe two-
roomed overcrowded St Patrick's National
School (St Pa’s) at St Luke's Cross, where they
were pupils of another great Cork talent, the
writer Daniel Corkery, who had taken up a

Daniél Corkery, Bronze, teaching pOSt there in 1913.

by Seamus Murphy
(Courtesy of the Murphy Family,

Photograph Dara McGrath) :
o Corkery encouraged the potential he saw

In both pupils. O'Connor and Murphy later
paid tribute to the major influence that
Corkery played in their early lives. O'Connor
wrote that he had looked on him as ‘a
substitute father’ and hero figure and
Murphy recalled Corkery’s encouragement
of his artistic talent when they went
sketching together afterschool. At Corkery's
urging, Murphy enrolled at the Crawford
LE School of Art where he studied at night
pFAmuS RIS SUfORIogIapny.Stope while serving his apprenticeship with a

Mad, published in 1950, became a bestseller
et asninensissell  Master stone-carver in Blackpool. His first
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e e it +  Frank O’Connor (1903-66) - 'The Dreamer
. /M of Harrington Square’. The Frank O'Connor
Library, Mayfield was named in honour of
this local writer, who lived at 8 Harrington
Square, near Dillon’'s Cross. Born Michael

Saatatic My Plage ar 149 O'Donovan, he adopted the pseudonym

sels.f o o Frank O'Connor to retain his independence
I:m“ko GO““ : as a writer, while working as a librarian |.n
bt e g Cork and other parts of the country. His

iterary career spanned four decades from
1922-1966, during which he received
international acclaim for his short story
collections and memoirs.

In An Only Child, published in 1961,0’'Connor
recounted his childhood days in Dillon’s
Cross, creating a vivid depiction of Cork
working-class life In the early twentieth

An Only Child by Frank O Connor centu ry.
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OE MURPHY

‘THE BOY FRON POULADUFT’

When Joe Murphy was still a small boy, his
parents brought him back from America,
(where they had emigrated in 1891) to live In
Cork. Settling in Pouladuff Road, young Joe
attended Togher National School and played
hurling with Old Plunketts club in Togher.

At age of 22 in 1917, Joe Murphy joined the
Irish Volunteers. On the night of 15 July 1920,
he was imprisoned in Cork Gaol and charged
with possession of explosives. He and more
than sixty of his fellow prisoners — many held
Lo SEEN MuRFRY without trial - started a hunger strike on 11
B August 1920, demanding to be released. They
Menorial Catil 6F Joseph Murbhy were joined the following day by the Lord
(18 May 1835-25 October 1920) Mayor of Cork, Terence MacSwiney. After ten
(Courtesy of Cork Public Museum, Cork)
days all but eleven were sent to other prisons
around Ireland and Britain, with MacSwiney
sent to Brixton Prison.

The national and international media reported
on the struggles of the hunger strikers and
each day large crowds would gather outside
__ e e Cork Gaol for news, many reciting the rosary
The Sceouqe ISR Or singing 'Faith of our Fathers’. Messages
Padg o, 15 Shlone were sent in semaphore (visual signalling)
from the windows of the prison hospital where

- | the hunger strikers were. The gquestion most
HU%%E%&%E&%EEB‘ often asked by the men within was "How s

| Terry Mac?” IRA signallers outside replied in

Joseph, Murphy Succumbs| Morse Code giving the latest news from Brixton
 Aiter 76 Days | ageen

"BORN IN.AMERICA On 25 October 1920, after fasting for 76 days,

T —— | the 25-year-old Joe Murphy died within hours

Dies During; Recital. ok of the passing of Terence MacSwiney in Brixton

.7 Prayers fOf_jme.‘ Dymng~ Prison. They were buried near each other in

the Republican Plot in St Finbarr's Cemetery.

From Freeman’'s Journal,

26 October 1920

In the late 1940s Cork City Council built a large
housing estate at Ballyphehane with most of
the roads in the area named after well-known

)

. figures from the Irish War of Independence.
it  Oneofthese roads is named after Joe Murphy.
g L UL ™. With Joe Murphy Road and Joe Murphy House,
L., T located at the junction of Pouladuft Road and
' Vicar's Road, Ballyphehane has not forgotten
0 < F 0 5C NeéNaneE
om Ballyphehane Heritage Huk Its native son.
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